
Standards Committee 
 
  

 
Please contact: Democratic Services 
 
Please email: democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk 
Please Direct Dial on: 01263 516047 
 
Date Not Specified 
 
A meeting of the Standards Committee of North Norfolk District Council will be held in the Council 
Chamber - Council Offices on Tuesday, 18 November 2025 at 1.00 pm. 
 
 
At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for 
approximately one and a half hours 
 

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to arrive at 
least 15 minutes before the start of the meeting. It will not always be possible to accommodate requests 
after that time. This is to allow time for the Committee Chair to rearrange the order of items on the 
agenda for the convenience of members of the public. Further information on the procedure for public 
speaking can be obtained from Democratic Services, Tel:01263 516047, 
Email:democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk. 
 
Anyone attending this meeting may take photographs, film or audio-record the proceedings and report 
on the meeting.  Anyone wishing to do so should inform the Chairman.  If you are a member of the 
public and you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, please be aware that you may be filmed or 
photographed. 

 
 
 
Emma Denny 
Democratic Services Manager 
 
To: Cllr J Boyle, Cllr H Blathwayt, Cllr N Dixon, Cllr N Housden, Cllr R Macdonald, Cllr P Porter and 
Cllr L Shires 
 
All other Members of the Council for information. 
Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public 

 

If you have any special requirements in order 
to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance 

If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in 
a different language please contact us 

 
Head of Paid Service & Chief Executive: Steve Blatch 

Tel 01263 513811  Fax  01263 515042  Minicom  01263 516005 
Email  districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk  Web site  www.north-norfolk.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 

1.   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

1 - 14 

 To approve as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the 
Standards Committee held on the 19th of December 2024. 
 

 

4.   ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To determine any items of business which the Chairman decides should 
be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B (4) (b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 

5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

15 - 20 

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. The Code of Conduct 
for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest 
and whether it is a pecuniary interest. 
 

 

6.   MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT 
 

21 - 24 

 To receive and note excerpts from the annual Monitoring Officer’s 
Report for 2024-25 that relate to the Standards Committee and Code of 
Conduct complaints. 
 

 

7.   DISPENSATIONS 
 

25 - 28 

 To receive and note an update from the Monitoring Officer on any 
dispensations granted under delegated authority. 
 

 

8.   UPDATE ON RECENT CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS 
 

29 - 30 

 To receive an update on any current complaints from the Monitoring 
Officer. 
 

 

9.   UPDATE ON STANDARDS AND CONDUCT FRAMEWORK 
 

 

 An update on the consultation can be found here  Strengthening the 
standards and conduct framework for local authorities in England - 
GOV.UK 
 

 

10.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 

 To pass the following resolution: 
 
“That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A 
(as amended) to the Act”. 

 

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england&data=05%7C02%7C%7Cbfe01fd404c24e0edb0408ddf9c82af7%7C9f672fd198824545912b3e81310be672%7C0%7C0%7C638941360306586992%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Q%2FmSRgUz8uutW6bnD0p5j8bkXfpD7D4PoryqtL5oLdU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england&data=05%7C02%7C%7Cbfe01fd404c24e0edb0408ddf9c82af7%7C9f672fd198824545912b3e81310be672%7C0%7C0%7C638941360306586992%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Q%2FmSRgUz8uutW6bnD0p5j8bkXfpD7D4PoryqtL5oLdU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fconsultations%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england%2Fstrengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england&data=05%7C02%7C%7Cbfe01fd404c24e0edb0408ddf9c82af7%7C9f672fd198824545912b3e81310be672%7C0%7C0%7C638941360306586992%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Q%2FmSRgUz8uutW6bnD0p5j8bkXfpD7D4PoryqtL5oLdU%3D&reserved=0


STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee held on Thursday, 19 December 
2024 at the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 11.30 am 
 
Committee 
Members Present: 

 

 Cllr J Boyle (Chairman) Cllr P Porter 
 Cllr L Shires  
 
Officers in  
Attendance: 

Assistant Director for Legal and Governance & Monitoring Officer 
Trainee Solicitor (Investigating Officer) 
PA to the Corporate Leadership Team. 

   
 
Also in 
attendance: 

Independent Person 
Complainant 

 
 
33 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies were received from Cllr Blathwayt, Cllr Dixon, Cllr Housden, Cllr 

Macdonald 
 

34 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS 
 

 None received. 
 

35 MINUTES 
 

 The minutes of the meeting on 03 October 2023 were confirmed as a true and 
accurate record by Cllr Pauline Porter, who was in attendance.  
 

36 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 None declared 
 

37 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 The Monitoring Officer stated that the first matter to consider was whether the 
Hearing should proceed in the absence of the Subject Member.  
 
She advised that members would need to consider whether they could fairly proceed 
in the Subject Member’s absence. She added that the Human Rights Act outlined 
that the Subject Member had a right to a fair hearing, and when considering whether 
it was fair to proceed, Members would need to consider whether the Subject 
Member was aware of the Hearing, whether they had responded to attendance 
requests, and the Subject Member’s view on whether it should proceed in public, 
private or be postponed.  
 
Questions and Discussion 

i. The Monitoring Officer advised the Committee that the Subject Member had 
been asked for his availability for the hearing and was informed within 3 
working days that Thursday 19 December 2024 would be the date for the 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Hearing.  
ii. The Subject Member responded within the hour to say that he was no longer 

available on this date as the person he wished to accompany him was no 
longer available and he had transport issues.   

iii. The Subject Member was made aware that his responses to the Monitoring 
Officer’s email would be shared with the Committee.  

iv. The Subject Member was asked if he would be attending and if not whether 
he would have a view on the Hearing continuing in his absence and whether 
he had a view as to the matter being held in public or private and he failed to 
respond on any of these points.  

v. The Monitoring Officer offered assistance both in terms of alternative 
transport and for third party support at the Hearing.  

vi. The Subject Member did not engage until the morning of the Hearing.  
vii. The Independent person stated that he felt that the Subject Member’s 

inability to bring his son with him to the hearing would not materially affect 
the information to be presented as his son was not a witness to the matter. 
The Subject Member’s son was therefore needed to provide transport for the 
Subject Member; however, the correspondence clearly shows that alternative 
methods of transport were available. The third area of having someone in 
attendance would be to provide support to the Subject Member but this has 
not been expressed as a particular reason as to why the Subject Member 
wanted to have his son in attendance.  

viii. The Independent Person therefore stated that he felt that on balance the 
hearing should continue in the Subject Member’s absence.  

ix. The Investigating Officer stated that the Subject Member had been provided 
with opportunities to provide a response to both the draft and final 
investigation and chose not to do so. The investigation report does take in to 
account the Subject Member’s submission to the initial investigation.  

x. The Investigating Officer advised that she felt the Hearing should proceed to 
avoid further cost and use of resources.  

 
The Committee considered the question of whether to adjourn the Hearing or to 
proceed in the Subject Member’s absence.  
 
The Committee recognised the need to consider fairness to all persons involved, 
including the Subject Member.  
 
The Committee noted the following that: 

1. The Subject Member was asked for his availability and provided dates 
including 19 December 2024 on 28 November 2024.  

2. The Subject Member was informed on 03 December 2024 that he needed to 
hold 19 December 2024 for the Hearing.  

3. An hour later the Subject Member said that he was no longer available on 
this date.  

4. The Subject Member was asked for the reason and informed the Monitoring 
Officer that the person who was going to accompany him was no longer 
available.  

5. The Monitoring Officer wrote and informed the Subject Member that this did 
not appear to provide sufficient reason to rearrange the Hearing but gave the 
Subject Member the opportunity to provide further detail.  

6. The Subject Member was also asked for information around his attendance, 
any witnesses he wished to put forward and his views as to whether the 
hearing should be heard in public or private. 

7. Further information was provided around transport difficulties, assistance 
was provided as to how the Subject Member could attend and the Hearing 

Page 2



was given a later start time to accommodate any travel difficulties and the 
possibility of arranging an alternative person to accompany him was 
explained. 

8. The Committee read the correspondence and considered that no good 
reason to not attend has been provided especially as the Subject Member 
identified this date as suitable so close to notification of the hearing date.  

9. The Committee have heard from the Independent person and the 
Investigating officer and note their comments. The Committee have also 
considered correspondence sent to the Committee from the Subject Member 
today and earlier this week.  

10. The Decision of the Committee was to proceed with the Hearing in the 
absence of the Subject Member.  
 

RESOLVED 
 
Committee Members agreed that they were happy to proceed with the Hearing 
in the absence of the Subject Member. 
 
The Monitoring Officer stated that the next matter to be considered was whether the 
Hearing should be held in Public or Private. She added that the starting position of 
any Standards Committee meeting should always be in favour of a public Hearing, 
which should only be held in private under limited circumstances where there is 
justification in law for doing so. It was noted that this related primarily to where 
individuals are or are likely to be identified by information contained in the report 
clearly able to identify individuals involved in the investigation. The Monitoring 
Officer stated that Members should therefore consider whether the public interest fell 
on holding the meeting in public or private, and this could be determined by the 
public’s interest in transparency or member conduct. Matters against the public 
interest were stated to include specific circumstances that would present a 
compelling reason to debate the matter in private, such as protecting individuals’ 
privacy rights. The Monitoring Officer noted that whilst the report did identify 
individuals, the Complainant was in attendance at the meeting, and had confirmed 
that that he was content for the meeting to proceed in public session and the witness 
had been contacted prior to the meeting and had agreed to the information being 
made public. 
 
The Independent person felt that the hearing should proceed in public, provided 
addresses and identifying information was removed from the documentation. 
 
The Investigating officer felt that provided sensitive data was removed from the 
report the Hearing could be held in person.  
 
The Committee noted: 

1. The Monitoring Officer’s comments and that the complainant and witness 
were content with the matter being held in public.  

2. The Investigators and Independent person’s comments. Both consider the 
matter can be held in public, subject to some further redaction of personal 
information in the papers.  

3. The Subject Member’s email of 18 December 2024 where he informed 
Members of the Committee that he wanted the hearing to be held in public. 
Whilst the Committee noted that it is not appropriate to contact the 
Committee directly, this nevertheless goes to support the hearing being in 
public. 

4. On balance, although the investigation does contain information that 
identifies or is likely to identify individuals, there is public interest in this 

Page 3



matter and so this matter will proceed in public.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
To hold the meeting in public session.   
 
  
 

38 DETERMINATION OF CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINT IN RESPECT OF CLLR 
ROCKETT OF FAKENHAM TOWN COUNCIL 
 

 Investigator’s Introduction 
 

i. The Investigator advised the Committee that the investigation involved 
one incident on Friday 22 March 2024 at 10.00am. The Subject 
Member, Complainant and Witness met at Aldiss Park, Fakenham to 
discuss the boardwalk. The Complainant and the Witness reported 
that the Complainant had said that the Boardwalk needed some 
immediate repairs. The Subject Member immediately commented to 
the Complainant, “Who the fucking hell do you think you are? I’ve had 
enough I’m leaving.” The Complainant responded that the subject 
member should leave the meeting having used foul language. The 
Subject member then responded with “No I’m not fucking leaving you 
can fucking leave.” To which the complainant responded that he was 
not leaving and reiterated that the Subject Member needed to leave. 
The Subject Member responded by saying “No I am not leaving and 
what are you going to do about it.” The Complainant reported that the 
subject member was verbally and physically adopting an aggressive 
stance. The witness to the incident reported that the Subject Member 
stepped towards the Complainant, before two groundsmen arrived and 
de-escalated the situation, after which the Complainant left.  
 

ii. The Investigating Officer stated that the Subject Member does not 
refute this account and states when providing the account for the initial 
assessment that the incident was accurately recorded, except for 
saying that the Complainant had barked at him, “I want it repaired for 
next week’s race meeting”.  
 

iii. In addition to the complaint received by the Council, the Subject 
Member allegedly shared the confidential complaint made by the 
Complainant to all of Fakenham Town Council via email on 09 April 
2024. 
 

iv. The Subject Member became aware of the complaint made against 
him in the contents of the draft report and was provided with an 
opportunity to respond but did not do so. 
 

v. The Investigating Officer also made the Committee aware that the 
Subject Member again shared a section of the confidential report on 
07 December 2024 via email with Fakenham Town Council. This 
occurred after the publication of the final report and so as such has not 

Page 4



been included within the papers for today’s Hearing.  
 

vi. The Subject Member failed to co-operate with the Investigating Officer 
throughout the investigation process and this is why the final report 
does not include any information from the Subject Member besides 
that included in the initial assessment. 
 

vii. The Investigating officer went on to outline the legal principles 
underpinning the investigation. The first being Article 10 of the Human 
Rights Act 1998 which articulates that everybody has the right to 
freedom of expression which includes the freedom to hold opinions 
and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference 
by public authority and regardless of frontiers. This is a qualified right, 
meaning it may only be restricted if the restriction is prescribed by law 
and is necessary in a Democratic society for the protection of rights 
and interests of others. Therefore, it is important to note that the 
burden lies with the Council to justify any interference with these 
fundamental rights.  
 

viii. The second legal principle is the Localism Act 2011 section 28 which 
outlines the more commonly known Nolan Principles. These principles 
require a Councillor to act with: 

a. Selflessness 
b. Integrity 
c. Objectivity 
d. Accountability 
e. Openness 
f. Honesty  
g. Leadership 

These principles provide guidance to ensure that conduct in public life 
does not fall below the minimum level expected whilst also bearing in 
mind the importance of freedom of political expression. 

 
ix. The Investigating Officer summarised the legal principles to assist the 

Committee in making a finding. The Committee must therefore be 
satisfied that at the time of the alleged incident the Subject member 
was acting as a Councillor or Representative of Fakenham Town 
Council. Secondly that on the balance of probability the alleged 
conduct occurred. Thirdly that the conduct complained of comprises a 
breach of the Falkenham Town Council Code of Conduct.  
 

x. The Investigating Officer then went on to discuss her findings. The use 
of the work “Fuck” and the variances there of, was entirely 
inappropriate in the setting of a meeting and no less in a public place 
where a Councillor is representing their Town Council and 
constituents. The use of this language, adopting an aggressive stance 
and stepping towards another Councillor in such a way amounts to 
disrespect and personal abuse. The behaviour and actions exhibited 
by the Subject Member creates a hostile environment and discourages 
participation in Community and Political Activity.  

Page 5



 
xi. The Independent Person’s stated in his initial assessment that the 

Subject Member’s actions could amount to an offense which attests to 
its seriousness.  
 

xii. The Subject Member offered some explanation namely that the 
Complainant was self-interested. Further to this the Subject member 
mockingly compared the Complainant to a schoolboy and suggested 
that he should grow up. Which further exaggerated the matter.  
 

xiii. The Investigating Officer explained that there had been a number of 
opportunities for the Subject Member to offer an apology for their 
behaviour and actions on 22 March 2024. Further opportunities were 
provided when the Subject member was presented with the draft 
report. This issue has been further compounded by the Subject 
member’s denial of any wrongdoing. 
 

xiv. The Investing Officer summarised by saying that the complaint relates 
to a service Councillor and therefore their conduct falls within the 
scope of the Standards Framework, on the balance of probability it can 
be confirmed that the conduct occurred and finally the complaint 
details blatant disrespect, bullying and abusive behaviour to a fellow 
Councillor which constitutes a breach of the Fakenham Town Council 
code of conduct.  The Councillor also shared confidential documents 
via email which constitute a further breach of the Fakenham Town 
Council Code of Conduct. 
 

xv. The Investigating Officer therefore asked the Committee to find in 
favour of a breach of Code. 

 
Questions from members of the Committee 
 
xvi. Cllr Shires thanked the Investigating Officer for her work and asked 

her to confirm that other than the initial investigation response there 
has been no further correspondence from the Subject Member, other 
than to criticise the methodology of the investigation. 
 

xvii. The Investigating Officer confirmed that this was the case.  
 

xviii. Cllr Shires asked if the Monitoring Officer could confirm the process 
that is undertaken when looking at Standards Complaints as the 
Subject Member seems to have shown a complete lack of respect for 
the Investigation. 
 

xix. The Monitoring Officer explained that under the Localism Act 2011 
there is an obligation on the District Council and Monitoring Officer to 
maintain standards in regard to Councillor Conduct. District, Parish 
and Town Councils are required to have in place a Code of Conduct 
which members of the authority sign up to and agree to adhere to. If 
anyone believes an elected member has breached the code of 

Page 6



conduct, they would need to submit a complaint to the Monitoring 
Officer of the District Council. Once a complaint is filed, an initial 
assessment is carried out to determine whether the matter needs 
further investigation, the Subject Member would be given the 
opportunity to apologise. The opportunity to apologise was given in 
this matter but was not taken up. This means that the matter 
proceeded to an investigation. Once the investigation is complete the 
committee is convened to determine if there has been a breach of 
code of conduct.  
 

xx. Cllr Brown focused on the three issues to be determined. The first 
where the Subject Member was acting in his capacity as a member of 
Fakenham Town Council. It is clear from the investigation that he was. 
The conduct described clearly established the need for an 
investigation and there is a prima facie case for a breach having 
occurred.  

 
Questions from the Monitoring Officer on behalf of the Subject Member 
xxi. The Monitoring Officer asked questions on behalf of the Subject 

Member. She asked why the Subject Member was not informed of the 
complaint made against him on 09 April 2024. 
 

xxii. The Investigating Officer responded that the Subject Member was 
provided with exhibit EX2, showing the confidential information shared 
with the Town Council in the draft report and was provided with an 
opportunity to raise any queries or detail inaccuracies but he chose not 
to. The Subject Member has since received the final report and again 
there has been no further correspondence.  
 

xxiii. The Monitoring Officer also asked on behalf of the Subject Member 
why there were redactions in the final report as the Subject Member 
did not consider this to be fair.  
 

xxiv. The Investigating Officer explained that the final report was redacted 
for third party data in line with the Council’s data protection policy.  
 

xxv. The Monitoring Officer asked one final question on behalf of the 
Subject member, as to why the representations from the complainant 
had not been included as exhibits in the final report.  
 

xxvi. The Investigating officer explained that although representations were 
received, they were not used when making a decision on the complaint 
and this was why they were not included in the final report.  
 

xxvii. The Members of the Committee were provided with copies of these 
representations but were asked to keep in mind that the Subject 
Member had not seen these and therefore had an opportunity to 
comment on them.  

 
Questions from the Independent Person 

Page 7



xxviii. The Independent person had no questions for the Investigating Officer.  
 

Complainant’s Comments 
xxix. The Complainant thanked the Investigating Officer for her thorough 

report and apologised that the matter had taken up so much time for 
so many people. He stated that had the Subject Member apologised 
this would have been accepted, but it has been made very clear that 
the Subject Member has no intention of apologising. The Complainant 
is angry that confidential information was shared, which put other 
Members of the Town Council in an awkward position.  
 

Independent Persons Comments 
xxx. The Independent Person confirmed that in this investigation the 

Subject Member confirmed that the report gave a good representation 
of whet he had said, he did however dispute some of the 
Complainant’s responses, but this has little to do with the issue at 
hand. The Complainant has tried to put his language in context of 
being in the army and that it wouldn’t have offended someone who had 
been in the army. The Subject Member has however since apologised 
to the clerk so recognised that his language was inappropriate. It can 
be safely said that most people looking at the code would deem that 
the language is not respectful and is language liable to cause offence, 
intimidate, bullying and in fact coupled with the invitation to step 
outside verges on the threatening.  
 

xxxi. The Independent Person confirmed his view that there had been a 
Code of Conduct breach.  
 

Closing Statement from the Investigating Officer 
xxxii. The Investigating officer confirmed that she was happy the Subject 

Member was acting in his role as a Town Councillor and had breached 
the Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct. There had been every 
opportunity for the Subject Member to apologise which would have 
mitigated the alleged breaches. She also stated that she was surprised 
that the Subject member was not more astute to what is considered 
good conduct. 

 
Advice from the Monitoring Officer 

xxxiii. The Monitoring Officer advised the Committee to take into account 
everything they had read in the papers and everything that they had 
heard during the hearing. The alleged Code of Conduct breaches, 
relate to one initial incident of disrespectful and bullying behaviour and 
two other incidents relating to sharing confidential papers. The Subject 
Member had concerns that he was not informed earlier of the latter two 
matters.  
 

xxxiv. She stated that when considering the matter, the Committee must be 
satisfied that the Subject Member was an elected or co-opted member. 
That at the time of the Subject Member was acting in his capacity as 
an elected or co-opted member. It is also necessary to consider 

Page 8



whether the words used by the Subject Member are protected by the 
enhanced right of freedom of expression or were the words and the 
conduct purely personal abuse which would not be subject to the 
enhanced protection under Article 10. The Committee was also 
requested to look at the balance of probabilities as to whether the 
alleged behaviours occurred and if they did whether they constituted a 
breach in the Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct. 
 

xxxv. The committee were advised that: 
a. If NO BREACH is found this is the end of the matter. 
b. If any BREACH is found the Committee would need to 

discuss what if any sanctions are applicable.  
 
*The Committee retired to consider the allegations* 
 
Findings 

xxxvi. The hearing was to determine whether or not the Subject Member 
breached the Fakenham Town Council Code of conduct with regard to 
alleged behaviour relating to an original allegation on 22 March 2024 
which relates to disrespectful and bullying behaviour and a further two 
matters on 9 April 2024 and 7 December 2024 concerning sharing 
confidential information. 
 

xxxvii. The Committee considered two preliminary issues: whether (i) the 
matter should proceed in the absence of the subject member; and (ii) 
whether the matter should be held in public or private session were 
determined earlier in this session. 
 

xxxviii. It was determined that the matter should be heard in public session 
and should proceed in the absence of the Subject Member. 
 

xxxix. In summary, three alleged breaches were considered: 
i. That during a visit to the Aldiss Park with a fellow councillor, the 

Subject Member used disrespectful and bullying behaviour by 
swearing and his physical demeanour. 

ii. Sharing confidential information by email with Fakenham Town 
Council on 9 April 2024 

iii. Sharing confidential information by email with Fakenham Town 
Council on 7 December 2024 

 
Evidence Heard 
xl. The Panel members: 

1. Read all the documents before them, including the Investigator's 
report and appendices. 

2. Heard oral submissions from the Investigating Officer 
3. Heard representations from the complainant 
4. Heard from the Independent Person who gave his views 
5. Considered letters and emails sent by the Subject Member who 

was not present. 
 

Page 9



xli. The Investigating Officer's report considered that there were breaches 
in regard to the Subject Member's conduct at the meeting relating to 
Town Council business at Aldiss Park, and further that the Subject 
Member shared confidential information with others. She presented 
her report and addressed the Committee on the issue of capacity and 
freedom of speech. The Subject Member, whilst having some differing 
views on circumstances surrounding the behaviour alleged, he agreed 
that it occurred, with regard to the initial allegation. He made no 
comment, via email as he was not present, in regard to the sharing of 
information other than relating to the investigation procedures. 
 

Independent Person 
xlii. The Independent Person provided his views, in writing, following the 

Final Investigation report, and at the hearing. 
 
Findings 
xliii. The Committee considered all of the information before them, 

including the written and oral evidence. With regard to the two 
allegations, and then an additional allegation before them at the 
committee, it made the following, findings: 
 

xliv. With regard to all matters, the committee find that the Subject Member 
was an elected or co-opted Member, and was acting in his capacity as 
a member at the time 

 
Allegation 1 - BREACH 
xlv. Disrespectful and bullying/ intimidatory behaviour on 22 March 2024. 

 
xlvi. The Committee considered that the town clerk broadly supported what 

the complainant had alleged in regard to disrespectful and intimidatory 
behaviour at Aldiss Park. The Subject Member, in his initial comments 
during the process did not dispute the main facts but mocked the 
complainant. The Subject Member was given an opportunity to 
apologise to the complainant but refused to do so, as he is permitted 
to do.  
 

xlvii. This however, would have resolved the matter, but instead it has come 
before us today. The Committee considers that the language towards 
the complainant was purely personal abuse and his physical 
demeanour aggravated this. Having heard from everyone at the 
meeting, and having considered the papers before them, including 
correspondence from the Subject Member, the Committee found the 
behaviour to have occurred, and there to be A BREACH of the 
Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct on this matter. 
 

Further Breaches 
xlviii. The Committee also found that the Subject Member breached 

obligations (1) to (5) of the Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct 
by the behaviours displayed. He acted disrespectfully to members of 
staff involved in the investigation. By sharing emails with the town 

Page 10



councillors, and directly with the Members of the Standards Committee 
prior to the hearing, the Committee considered that this breaches 
paragraph 3 of the Member obligations as it was seeking to improperly 
confer an advantage. This was also done using the Fakenham Town 
Council email, which was considered to be inappropriate use of council 
resources, contrary to paragraph 4.  
 

xlix. Finally, the committee found that confidential information was 
disclosed to members of the town council who were not involved in the 
standards process. This would contravene paragraph 5 of the code. 
Further, this had the potential to compromise the process and was not 
respectful to the complainant. 
 

Decision 
l. The Committee considers that the Subject Member did breach the 

Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct in respect of the initial 
allegation regarding disrespectful and intimidating behaviour at 
Aldiss Park. Further that there are breaches of paragraphs 1-5 of 
the Fakenham Town Council Code of Conduct for the reasons 
outlined above. 

 
Sanctions 

li. The Monitoring Officer stated that where a breach of the Code of 
Conduct had been found the Committee could consider making 
recommendations on sanctions to the relevant Council, whilst ensuring 
that any sanctions were reasonable, proportionate, and relevant to the 
Subject Member’s behaviour. She added that the sanctions could 
include recommendation of one or more of the following; a report 
outlining the Committee’s findings made to the relevant Council, 
issuing a formal censure, request for a formal apology, removal from 
any or all Committees, removal from outside appointments, to 
undertake specified training, for the Council to withdraw facilities from 
the Subject Member, and that the Subject Member be excluded from 
Council premises (except for necessary meetings). It was noted that 
any sanctions should not restrict the Subject Member from undertaking 
their duties as a Councillor. 

 
Investigating Officers Comments on Sanctions 

lii. The Investigating Officer stated that following the decision from the 
Committee that the Subject Member breached the Fakenham Town 
Council Code of Conduct, any recommended sanctions must meet the 
minimum standards required to maintain public trust in the Council. 
She added that despite this, she believed that the breaches fell within 
the scope of a written or public apology. It was suggested that the 
Committee should also consider recommending that the Subject 
Member undertake training on general standards matters, bullying, 
and harassment and data protection.  

 
Independent Persons Views on Sanctions 
liii. The Independent person agreed with what the Investigating office 

Page 11



proposed, especially with regard to the training.  
 
*The Committee retired to consider sanctions.* 
 
liv. The Chairman stated that having found multiple breaches, the 

Committee had considered all options and took account of mitigating 
and aggravating factors. She added that in terms of aggravating 
factors, the Subject member was given opportunities to make an 
apology which would have resolved the matter, but he failed to do so. 
The Subject member has also shown consistent disrespectful 
behaviour throughout the investigation towards officers and sharing 
information inappropriately. On mitigating factors, it was noted that the 
Subject member apologised to the Clerk who was present although not 
to the complainant.  
 

lv. It was noted that the Subject member was not present to provide any 
comment on the possible sanctions but that the advice from both the 
Investigating Officer and Independent Person.  

 
lvi. The Committee considered what recommendations should be made to 

Fakenham Town Council in respect of sanctions. It considered, with 
reference to its findings and the aggravating and mitigating factors, 
that the following sanctions would be appropriate: 
1. A report of the Committee's findings made to the Fakenham Town 

Council 
2. Issue of a formal censure detailing the displeasure of the behaviour 
3. The Committee considers that the Subject Member be required to 

make a clear and unreserved public apology relating to his 
behaviour at Aldiss Park on 22 March 2024. Such apology needs to 
acknowledge that the comment made was disrespectful towards 
the complainant and should be made by the Subject Member the 
next Fakenham Town Council that he attends (following any 
resolution to adopt these recommendations by the Fakenham 
Town Council). 

4. Removal from the Leisure and Environment Sub Committee, any 
other committees and outside appointments, until such time as the 
training below is recorded as completed by the Fakenham Town 
Council and the apology has been carried out. 

5. The Committee recommends to Fakenham Town Council that the 
Subject Member be required to undertake and complete 
appropriate training in: 

 Code of Conduct 

 Data protection and GDPR 
within 6 months of the date of the hearing (19/12/24). Such training 
will be considered 'appropriate' where it is approved in writing by 
the Fakenham Town Council and will be considered as 'completed' 
where the Fakenham Town Council is satisfied that it has been 
completed and provides such confirmation in writing to the Subject 
Member. 
It is recommended to the Fakenham Council that it does arrange 

Page 12



such training within this period. 
 

39 EXCERPTS FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER'S ANNUAL REPORT 
 

 The Monitoring Officer introduced the item and unformed members that appendix F 
contained information relating to the Code of Conduct matters for 2023/24. 
 
Between April 2023 and March 2024, a total of 33 Code of Conduct complaints were 
received. Thirty complaints related to parish/town councils and three related to the 
District Council. This compares to 20 complaints from the previous year relating to 
district, parish, and town councils. 
 
On receipt of a complaint about Member Conduct, the Monitoring Officer conducts 
an initial assessment to determine if the matter warrants any further action, such as 
a formal investigation. The Monitoring Officer liaises with one of the Council’s 
Independent Persons in this process. 
 
The most common reason for complaints continues to be alleged disrespectful 
behavior. The majority of complaints were assessed as requiring no further action. 
Sometimes this has been accompanied by some informal recommendations or 
guidance to improve governance. Nothing was referred for investigation during the 
year 2023/2024. 
 
It was noted that GRAC had received the full report, which contained information on 
members’ registers of interest, and the register of gifts and hospitality.  
 
The Committee received and noted the report.  
 

40 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 Independent person 
The Monitoring officer introduced this item, explaining that currently the Council has 
2 independent persons. However, the Monitoring Officer’s team have not been able 
to contact one of them for a considerable number of months.  
 
The Monitoring Officer proposed to write to the individual to see if they still wished to 
hold the position and if not proposed to go out to recruitment for a new independent 
person.  
 
Members approved this course of action.  
 

  
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 4.00 pm. 
 
 

 
______________ 

Chairman 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



   

Registering interests 

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office you 
must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out 
in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as described in “The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012”. You should also register  
details of your other personal interests which fall within the categories set out in Table 2 
(Other Registerable Interests). 

 “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means  an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are 
aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 below. 

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband 
or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners. 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28

days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a registered

interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence

or intimidation.

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer with

the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring Officer

agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest 

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the interest, not

participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room

unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not

have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest.

Dispensation may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate

and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

5. Where  you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be considered or is
being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise of  your executive function,
you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or
further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other

Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the interest. You

may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at

the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it

is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



   

Disclosure of  Non-Registerable Interests 

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest

or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in Table 1) or a

financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, you must disclose the

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a

dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of

the interest.

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –

a. your own financial interest or well-being;

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; or

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other Registrable

Interests  as set out in Table 2

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the 
meeting after disclosing your interest  the following test should be applied 

9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it

would affect your view of the wider public interest

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 

speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must not take part in any discussion or vote 

on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 

dispensation. 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and you have
made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must make sure  that any
written statement of that decision records the existence and nature of your interest.

Page 16



    

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012. 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. 
This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the 
meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 

Page 17

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an incorporated 
body of which such person is a director* or 
a body that such person has a beneficial 
interest in the securities of*) and the council 
— 

(a) under which goods or services are to be
provided or works are to be executed; and

(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. 
‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which does 
not give the councillor or his/her spouse or 
civil partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were spouses/ 
civil partners (alone or jointly with another) 
a right to occupy or to receive income. 

Licenses Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to 
occupy land in the area of the council for a 
month or longer 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the councillor’s 
knowledge)— 

(a) the landlord is the council; and

(b) the tenant is a body that the councillor,
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the
person with whom the councillor is living as
if they were spouses/ civil partners is a
partner of or a director* of or has a
beneficial interest in the securities* of.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— 

(a) that body (to the councillor’s
knowledge) has a place of business or
land in the area of the council; and

(b) either—

(i) ) the total nominal value of the
securities* exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share
capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of
more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in
which the councillor, or his/ her spouse or
civil partner or the person with whom the
councillor is living as if they were

Page 18



  

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and

provident society.

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a

collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building

society.

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to or is 
likely to affect:  

a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you
are nominated or appointed by your authority

b) any body

(i) exercising functions of a public nature

(ii) any body directed to charitable purposes or

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion
or policy (including any political party or trade union)

spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

Page 19



Guidance on Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct | Local Government Association

Page 20



Excerpt (Appendix F) from Annual Monitoring Officer report [*updated] 

 

Monitoring Officer Report - Code of Conduct Complaints   

1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 Key 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Complaint 

Date 

Complaint 

Reference 
Complaint information 

-type of complainant 

-Number of Members 

complained of. 

Authority Allegation Progre
ss/ DN 
sent 

Assessment 

Outcome 
Hearing Outcome of 

Hearing  

         

April 2024 23902 - Complainant (Cllr)  
- 1 Subject Member 

NNDC Capacity under which 

attended a parish council 

meeting and non-

declaration/registration of 

interests 

Sent No Further Action  No N/A 

May 2024 23962 - Complainant (Cllr) 
- 1 Subject Member 

NNDC Disrespect Sent No Further Action  No  N/A 

Cllr Councillor 

MoP Member of the public 

NNDC District Council 

TC Town Council 

PC Parish Council 

DN Initial Assessment – Decision Notice 

 P
age 21

A
genda Item

 6



June 2024 24065 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 3 Subject Members 

Mundesley 

PC 

Dishonesty Sent No Further Action  No  N/A 

June 2024 24089 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 2 Subject Members 

Bacton PC Disrespectful and aggressive 

behaviour (SM1) and failing to 

report Disrespectful behaviour 

(SM2) 

Sent No Further Action No N/A 

March 
2024 

(complaint) 
 

December 
2024 

(hearing) 

23785 
 
 
 
24170  
 

- Complainant 
(other) 

- 1 Subject Member 

Fakenham 

TC 

Disrespectful conduct Yes Investigation 

  

Yes Breach 
found. 

June 2024 24236 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 8 Subject Members 

Briston PC Disrespectful behaviour (and 

other matters, a lot of which 

fell outside the scope of the 

Code) 

Yes No Further Action No No 

August 
2024 

24259 - Complainant (MoP) 
- Parish Council 

Members  

Hoveton PC Following clarification, the 

complaint appeared to fall 

outside the scope of the Code 

being about the parish council 

as a whole 

No  Discontinued – 

outside scope 

No No 

August 
2024 

24301 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 1 Subject Member 

Brinington 

PC 

Improper use of position Sent No Further Action No No 

P
age 22



August 
2024 

24336 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 1 Subject Member 

Holt TC Disrespectful behaviour Sent No Further Action No No 

Oct 2024 24541 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 3 Subject Members 

2 Members 

of NNDC 

and 1 of 

Holt TC 

Failing to be impartial, open 

and truthful 

Sent No Further Action No No 

November 
2024 

24576 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 2 Subject Members 

Knapton PC Failing to be truthful and 

disrespectful language and 

behaviour 

Sent No Further Action  No No 

October 
2024 

24577 - Complainant 
(other) 

- 3 Subject Members 

North 

Walsham TC 

Disrespectful and bullying 

behaviour 

Sent 
 
 
No 
  

SM1 – No Further 

Action 

 

SM2 and SM3 

Matter stayed 

No No 

November 
2024 

24604 - Complainant (as 
MoP and Cllr) 

- 1 Subject Member 

NNDC Disrespect and disrepute Sent No Further Action No No 

November 
2024 

 

24630 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 4 potential Subject 

Members 

Knapton PC Failing to be truthful and 

disrespectful language 

No  Two of those 

complained of 

were not within 

scope of the 

Code. The other 

two were 

considered under 

complaint 24576 

No  No 

P
age 23



January 
2025 

24757 - Complainant 
(other) 

- 2 Subject Members 

Suffield PC Failure to disclose interest; 

bias and bringing office into 

disrepute 

Sent No further Action  No No 

January 
2025 

24811 - Complainant (MoP) 
-  1 Subject member 

Scottow PC Disrespectful behaviour by a 

Member with reference to 

parish council procedures  

No Pending DN*   

January 
2025 

24861 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 6 Subject Members 

Suffield PC In progress – not yet finalised  No Not yet finalised*   

February 
2025 

24950 - Complainant 
(other) 

- 1 Subject Member 

North 

Walsham TC 

Additional complaint 

connected to complaint 

reference 24577 

No Connected to 

complaint 24576  

- matter stayed 

No No 

February 
2025 

24952 - Complainant (MoP) 
- 2 Subject Members 

Cromer TC Disrespectful behaviour and 

misuse of confidential 

information 

Yes No Further Action No No 

March 
2025 

25114 2 Members Fakenham 

TC 

In progress – not yet finalised No Pending DN   

 
 
 *finalised -DN sent  

P
age 24



Dispensation  

 

The Monitoring Officer authorises the following dispensation having liaised with Members of the 
Standards Committee:  

Members for which this 
dispensation applies 

• Members of North Norfolk District Council 
receiving allowances as a Member  

• Members of North Norfolk District Council and 
who are Members of Norfolk County Council 
(‘twin-hatters’) receiving allowances as a 
Member 

 

Committee(s) or 
decision-making body 
from which a 
dispensation would 
apply 

Full Council, Cabinet and all council committees  

Details of Membership 
of that body 

All Members are members of Full Council 

The business for which a 
dispensation would 
apply  

Debate and vote on matters relating to Devolution and Local 
Government Reorganisation 

What is the member’s 
interest 

Receipt of Member allowances and receipt of Member allowances 
at another authority 

Is dispensation to 
participate, vote or 
both? 

Both 

Reasons for allowing or 
refusing the 
dispensation 

Dispensation is granted. 
 
Due to the uncertainty of whether Members who receive Member 
allowances have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest [“DPI”],  a 
dispensation is provided for all Members, both for Members of 
NNDC alone, and ‘twin-hatters’, for a period of 4 years (or vesting 
day- whichever is earlier), for matters relating to Local 
Government Reorganisation and Devolution to enable Members 
who may have a DPI through receipt of Member allowances to 
participate and vote on matters relating to Local Government 
Reorganisation and devolution on such reports as may come 
forward for discussion at the Council. 
 
To ensure consistency across Norfolk councils and to allow full 
participation in discussions and votes on local government 
reorganisation, a dispensation is considered appropriate under 
section 33(2) of the Localism Act 2011, as without the 
dispensation, some Members may be prohibited from 
participating thereby impeding the transaction of business; and  
granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 
authority’s area to ensure democratic representation and 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



effective decision-making on matters of significant local 
importance 
 
*Note:  
A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest arises not only in respect of the 
individual Member, but also their spouse, civil partner or co-
habitee. 
Any Member who has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest for reasons 
other than those relating to allowances detailed in this 
dispensation would need to make a personal application setting 
out in detail the nature of the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and 
the reasons why they should be granted a dispensation for that 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and the extent of the dispensation 
that they are seeking. 
 

Period covered by the 
dispensation  

4 years - From 10/09/25 to and including 09/09/2029, or the 
vesting of a new Authority, whichever is the earlier. 

 

Signed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with Members of the Standards Committee 

………… ……………………..   Date……10 September 2025……… 

 

 

 

Page 26



DRAFT Dispensation  

 

The Monitoring Officer authorises the following dispensation having liaised with Members of 

the Standards Committee:  

Members for which this 
dispensation applies 

 Cllr Jeremy Punchard 

 

Committee(s) or 
decision-making body 
from which a 
dispensation would 
apply 

Full Council and all council committees  

Details of Membership 
of that body 

Members of Full Council 

The business for which 
a dispensation would 
apply  

Debate and vote on matters relating to Devolution and Local 
Government Reorganisation 

What is the member’s 
interest 

Employment: 
Norfolk Fire & Rescue Service (Norfolk County Council). 

Is dispensation to 
participate, vote or 
both? 

Both 

Reasons for allowing or 
refusing the 
dispensation 

Dispensation is granted. 
 
This Member is  a member of the Fire and Rescue Service, 
employed by the County Council, being one of the major 
employers in Norfolk. This may amount to a DPI when dealing 
with matters relating to devolution and local government 
organisation at Council meeting agenda items.  
(It is noted that dispensation has previously been granted to 
twin-hatters with regard to their being in receipt of allowances 
from the County Council, allowing them to participate and vote 
on matters relating to Local Government Reorganisation and 
devolution on such reports as may come forward for discussion 
at the Council.) 
 
It is relevant that this Member is the Leader of the Independent 
Group and representation of different political groups on 
important decisions relating to devolution and LGR may be 
negatively impacted without such participation. 
 
Local Government Reorganisation is a significant matter for 
Norfolk councils to consider and will have wide and various 
impacts upon people who live and work here. To allow wide and 
full participation in discussions and votes on local government 
reorganisation, a dispensation is considered appropriate under 
section 33(2) of the Localism Act 2011, as without the 
dispensation, this Member, may be prohibited from participating 
thereby impeding the transaction of business; and  
granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in 
the authority’s area to ensure democratic representation and 

Page 27



effective decision-making on matters of significant local 
importance 
 
*Note: 
(i) A Member who has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, for 
reasons other than those relating to the interest detailed in this 
dispensation, would need to make a personal application setting 
out in detail the nature of the Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and 
the reasons why they should be granted a dispensation for that 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and the extent of the 
dispensation that they are seeking. 
 
(ii) A Member may still choose to voluntarily remove themselves 
for any item that this dispensation has been granted for, should 
they so wish.  
 
(iii)  Whilst the dispensation is specific to the  interest contained 
in this document, no dispensation can be provided on being 
biased or predetermined and all Members are required to 
comply with these legal obligations 
 
 
 

Period covered by the 
dispensation  

4 years - From 11/09/25 to 10/09/2029, or the vesting of a new 
Authority, whichever is the earlier. 

 

Signed  by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with Members of the Standards Committee 

 

……………………………………………………..   Date……………………… 

 

 

 

Page 28



Code of Conduct matters 1 April 2025 - present 

        

        

        

        

        

 Reference Date Authority Complainant Subject Member Allegation Outcome 

        

1 25334 15/05/2025 Bodham PC Member of 
the public 

Member of BPC Disrespectful behaviour No further action 

2 25637 24/07/2025 NNDC Councillor Member of 
NNDC 

Disrespectful behaviour No further action 

3 25683 29/07/2025 NNDC Councillor Member of 
NNDC 

Misuse of position No further action 

 

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	Pages from Model Councillor Code of Conduct 2020 V2 0121
	Guidance on Local Government A_ Local Government Association 41

	6 MONITORING OFFICER'S REPORT
	7 DISPENSATIONS
	722498 - ii cllr Punchard - DRAFT Dispensation

	8 UPDATE ON RECENT CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS



